

1 | **High-intensity exercise impairs extradiaphragmatic**
2 **respiratory muscle perfusion in patients with COPD**

3
4 Zafeiris Louvaris^{1,2}, Antenor Rodrigues^{1,3,4}, Sauwaluk Dacha^{1,5}, Tin Gojevic¹,
5 Wim Janssens², Ioannis Vogiatzis⁶, Rik Gosselink^{1,2} and Daniel Langer^{1,2}
6

7 ¹Faculty of Kinesiology and Rehabilitation Sciences, Department of Rehabilitation
8 Sciences, Research Group for Rehabilitation in Internal Disorders, KU Leuven,
9 Belgium

10 ²Clinical Department of Respiratory Diseases, UZ Leuven, BREATHE department
11 CHROMETA, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

12 ³Laboratory of Research in Respiratory Physiotherapy (LFIP), Department of
13 Physiotherapy, Londrina State University (UEL), Londrina, Brazil

14 ⁴Research Aimed at Muscle Performance laboratory (RAMP). Department of Physical
15 Therapy, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

16 ⁵Faculty of Associated Medical Sciences, Department of Physical Therapy, Chiang Mai
17 University, Chiang Mai, Thailand

18 ⁶Department of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Health and Life Sciences,
19 Northumbria University Newcastle, United Kingdom

20
21
22 **Running head:** Respiratory muscle perfusion in COPD
23
24
25

26 **Correspondence:** Dr. Louvaris Zafeiris (zafeiris.louvaris@kuleuven.be) Rehabilitation
27 and Respiratory Division, UZ Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, O&N4 Building, Bus 1510,
28 Leuven 3000, Belgium.
29
30
31

32 **News and Noteworthy**
33

Zafeiris Louvaris 29/9/20 13:32

Deleted: Strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 29/9/20 13:32

Deleted: interferes with

36 We simultaneously assessed the blood flow index (BFI) in three respiratory muscles during
37 hyperpnoea and high-intensity constant-load cycling sustained at comparable levels of work of
38 breathing and respiratory neural drive in patients with COPD. We demonstrated that high-
39 intensity exercise interferes with respiratory muscle perfusion as intercostal, scalene and
40 abdominal BFI increased during hyperpnoea but not during cycling. Insufficient adjustment in
41 respiratory muscle perfusion during exercise was associated with greater dyspnoea sensations
42 in patients with COPD.

43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73

Abstract

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:36

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:36

Deleted: strenuous

76 | The study investigated whether [high-intensity](#) exercise interferes with inspiratory and
77 | expiratory muscle perfusion in patients with COPD. We compared respiratory local muscle
78 | perfusion between constant-load cycling (sustained at 80% WRpeak) and voluntary
79 | normocapnic hyperpnoea reproducing similar work of breathing (WoB) in 18 patients
80 | (FEV₁:58±24% predicted). Local muscle blood flow index (BFI), using indocyanine green dye
81 | and fractional oxygen saturation (%StiO₂) were simultaneously assessed by near-infrared
82 | spectroscopy (NIRS) over the intercostal, scalene, rectus abdominis and vastus lateralis
83 | muscles. Cardiac output (impedance cardiography), WoB (oesophageal/gastric balloon
84 | catheter), and diaphragmatic and extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle electromyographic
85 | activity (EMG) were also assessed throughout cycling and hyperpnoea. Minute ventilation,
86 | breathing pattern, WoB and respiratory muscle EMG were comparable between cycling and
87 | hyperpnoea. During cycling, cardiac output and vastus lateralis BFI were significantly greater
88 | compared to hyperpnoea [by +4.2(2.6-5.9) L/min and +4.9(2.2-7.8) nmol/s], respectively,
89 | (p<0.01). Muscle BFI and %StiO₂ were respectively lower during cycling compared to
90 | hyperpnoea in scalene [by -3.8(-6.4- -1.2) nmol/s and -6.6(-8.2- -5.1)%], intercostal [by -1.4(-
91 | 2.4- -0.4) nmol/s and -6.0(-8.6- -3.3)%] and abdominal muscles [by -1.9(-2.9- -0.8) nmol/s and
92 | -6.3(-9.1- -3.4)%] (p<0.001). The difference in respiratory (scalene and intercostal) muscle BFI
93 | between cycling and hyperpnoea was associated with greater dyspnoea (Borg CR10) scores (r=
94 | -0.54 and r= -0.49, respectively, p<0.05). These results suggest that in patients with COPD 1)
95 | locomotor muscle work during [high-intensity](#) exercise interferes with extradiaphragmatic
96 | respiratory muscle perfusion and that 2) insufficient adjustment in extradiaphragmatic
97 | respiratory muscle perfusion during [high-intensity](#) exercise may partly explain the increased
98 | sensations of dyspnoea.

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:37

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:37

Deleted: local

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:38

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:38

Deleted: strenuous

99

100

101 | **Keywords:** perfusion, exercise, NIRS, COPD, respiratory muscles

102

103

104

105

106

107

108 | **Introduction**

109

114 The ability to measure respiratory muscle blood flow allows the investigation of a number of
115 physiological and pathophysiological factors that limit exercise tolerance in healthy individuals
116 and in patients with chronic cardiorespiratory diseases.

117 However, traditional techniques for assessing respiratory muscle blood flow are highly
118 invasive, exposing the individuals to unnecessary health risks (14). Near-Infrared Spectroscopy
119 in conjunction with infusions in the circulation of the light-absorbing tracer indocyanine green
120 dye, (NIRS-ICG technique) has been increasingly applied over the past decade to provide a less
121 invasive and reliable method for assessing absolute and relative values (blood flow index) of
122 local respiratory (and locomotor) muscle perfusion at rest and during exercise in healthy
123 participants and in patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) (14, 32, 33,
124 36, 54).

125 In this context, the theory of blood flow redistribution from the locomotor to respiratory
126 muscles during high-intensity exercise (22, 23) is based on evidence in healthy and trained
127 subjects showing a decrease in locomotor muscle blood flow when respiratory muscle work is
128 artificially increased (and cardiac output is maximal), or an increase in locomotor muscle blood
129 flow when respiratory muscle work is decreased (37, 38). Based on these findings, it has been
130 postulated that owing to the high work of breathing sustained by patients with COPD during
131 exercise, blood flow may increase in favor of the respiratory muscles, thereby compromising
132 locomotor muscle blood flow (85).

133 We have previously demonstrated that in patients with COPD, intercostal muscle blood flow
134 progressively increased during voluntary hyperpnoea over a wide range of exercise ventilations
135 up to maximal (85). However, during graded cycling, intercostal muscle blood flow fell
136 progressively from rest to the early stages of exercise, whilst cardiac output was rising. When
137 cardiac output plateaued during high-intensity exercise (between 75%-100% of peak work), a
138 greater fall in intercostal muscle perfusion occurred contrasting sharply with the respiratory
139 muscle perfusion responses during voluntary hyperpnoea (85). Furthermore, when COPD
140 patients breathed 21% oxygen in helium (i.e., Heliox) or 100% oxygen to reduce respiratory
141 muscle load, there was no redistribution of blood flow between locomotor and respiratory
142 muscles in either direction at or near peak exercise, thereby challenging the theory of blood
143 flow redistribution between the locomotor and respiratory muscles (55, 83, 90). The
144 aforementioned studies in COPD were, however, focused on the assessment of intercostal
145 muscle blood flow acknowledging potential limitations such as partitioning of blood flow

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:39

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:32

Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:32

Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 30/9/20 14:44

Deleted: from

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:40

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:32

Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:32

Deleted: 2

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:32

Deleted: 89

154 | between the intercostal muscles and the diaphragm and/or movement-related artefacts (76, 83).
155 | In addition, assessment of intercostal muscle blood flow alone may not necessarily reflect the
156 | global respiratory muscle perfusion requirements during exercise in this population (76, 83).

157 | Accordingly, the objective of this exploratory study was to investigate whether high-
158 | intensity exercise interferes with respiratory muscle perfusion in patients with COPD. Due to
159 | the inability to assess diaphragm perfusion, we focused on assessing the blood flow index and
160 | oxygenation of other muscles of respiration namely scalene, intercostal and abdominal muscles
161 | during cycling and during voluntary normocapnic hyperpnoea sustained at comparable levels of
162 | minute ventilation and breathing pattern aiming to reproduce a comparable work of breathing
163 | (WoB). We also assessed key variables such as central hemodynamic responses, diaphragmatic
164 | and extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle activation, and locomotor muscle perfusion during
165 | both experimental conditions. We hypothesized that if at the same WoB the intercostal, scalene
166 | and abdominal muscle blood flow index were lower during cycling compared to hyperpnoea,
167 | this would suggest that high-intensity exercise interferes with respiratory muscle perfusion in
168 | patients with COPD.

169

170 | **Methods**

171 | ***Study group***

172 | Eighteen clinically stable patients with COPD (FEV₁: 58 ± 24% predicted) according to the
173 | Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Diseases (GOLD) participated in the study.
174 | Exclusion criteria included no participation in exercise-training programs in the year before, no
175 | long-term oxygen use and not presenting cardiovascular conditions limiting exercise tolerance,
176 | severe orthopaedic conditions, psychiatric or cognitive disorders and/or progressive
177 | neurological or neuromuscular disorders.

178 | ***Study design***

179 | The Ethical Committee Research of KU Leuven/UZ Leuven, Belgium approved the study
180 | (protocol ID: S58513). Prior to patient enrolment into the study, associated risks and potential
181 | benefits of participation were explained, and patients provided their written informed consent.
182 | The study conformed to the standards set by the Declaration of Helsinki and has been
183 | registered to a database (ClinicalTrials.gov, Identifier: NCT03240640). The study is part of a
184 | broader Randomized Clinical Trial (RCT) aiming to investigate the effects of Inspiratory

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:33

Deleted: 2

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:33

Deleted: 2

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:41

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:41

Deleted: strenuous

189 Muscle Training, by Tapered Flow Resistive Loading on the shortness of breath and on
190 postural control (Clinical Trial Identifier: NCT03240640). Data in Table 1 (baseline
191 characteristics) and Tables 2-6 in 16 out of 18 patients obtained during rest and hyperpnoea
192 | have appeared in a recent publication of our group (73), whilst data recorded during cycling
193 | have not appeared anywhere in that, or in any other, report.

Zafeiris Louvaris 30/9/20 14:47

Deleted: 6

194 ***Preliminary assessments***

195 All patients underwent the following preliminary assessments prior to visit 1:
196 | anthropometrics, pulmonary function (61, 89) and functional capacity (six-minute walking
197 | distance test and physical activity assessments). The six-minute walking distance test was
198 performed according to the ATS guidelines (8). Physical activity in terms of steps per day was
199 assessed by a validated for patients with COPD activity monitor (68, 71) using standardized
200 methodology (21).

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:33

Deleted: 8

201 ***Experimental design***

202 Experiments were conducted in 3 visits (Figure 1). During visit 1, patients performed
203 assessment of respiratory muscle strength (46) and a symptom-limited cardiopulmonary
204 exercise test on an electromagnetically braked cycle ergometer to determine peak work rate
205 (WR_{peak}) (70).

206 During visit 2 (>48 hours after *visit 1*) patients underwent a constant-load cycling test at
207 80% WR_{peak} to the limit of tolerance (i.e., exercise duration 366 ±109 sec) aiming to record
208 the ventilatory responses (i.e., mean tidal volume, breathing frequency and minute ventilation)
209 that patients were requested to reproduce during the hyperpnoea trial on visit 3 (*see below*).
210 The limit of exercise tolerance was defined as the time point at which patients signalled the
211 inability to continue exercising or could not maintain the required pedalling rate (50 – 60
212 revolution/min) despite being encouraged by the investigators to carry on cycling. Before and
213 after the constant-load cycling test, assessment of isometric quadriceps strength and quadriceps
214 muscle contractile fatigue (Magstim Co Ltd, Whitland, UK) were performed (16).

215 During visit 3 (>48 hours after *visit 2*) patients initially performed a voluntary normocapnic
216 hyperpnoea trial reproducing the ventilatory responses (i.e., mean tidal volume, breathing
217 frequency and minute ventilation) recorded for each patient during the last 3 minutes of the
218 | constant-load exercise test performed during visit 2. Patients were seated on a chair, with bent
219 | knees (at an angle approximately 90°), and the back of the trunk was straight without been
220 | supported by the back of the chair, whilst both arms were extended forward with the palms

223 | [touching the knees](#). Hyperpnoea was sustained to the point patients could not maintain
224 ventilatory responses to levels comparable to those during exercise. During the hyperpnoea test
225 investigators provided continuous verbal guidance aiming to ensure a maximum variation in
226 minute ventilation less than 5% throughout the test. This was facilitated by visual feedback on
227 breathing parameters that was provided real-time on a screen monitor (73). Normocapnia was
228 maintained by having subjects inspire from a Douglas bag containing 5% CO₂, 21% O₂ and
229 74% N₂, connected to a two-way non-rebreathing valve (model 2700, Hans Rudolph) by a
230 piece of tubing (85, 86). Following a sufficient resting period [[average 27 min \(range: 25-31](#)
231 [min\]](#)], patients performed a constant-load cycling test at 80% WR_{peak} to the limit of tolerance.
232 During hyperpnoea and constant-load exercise, recordings of pulmonary gas exchange and
233 ventilatory variables were performed breath-by-breath (V_{max} 229; Sensor Medics, San Diego,
234 CA). Arterial oxygen saturation was measured continuously by a pulse oximeter and blood
235 pressure was assessed every minute by an automated cuff monitor integrated to the cycle
236 ergometer. Breathlessness and leg discomfort were measured by the modified Borg scale (11).
237 During cycling, patients performed inspiratory capacity (IC) manoeuvres every two minutes to
238 identify the degree of dynamic lung hyperinflation assuming constant total lung capacity (TLC)
239 (64).

240 ***Subject preparation***

241 Subjects were prepared first with a combined EMG diaphragm-electrode catheter with
242 oesophageal and gastric balloons that were inserted nasally after topical anesthesia for the
243 assessment of activation of the diaphragm (EMG), as well as oesophageal (Pes) and gastric
244 (Pga) pressure measurements. Seven out of the eighteen (n=7/18) patients refused to undergo
245 measurements of diaphragm EMG, Pes and Pga with the oesophageal catheter system. Thus,
246 data on diaphragmatic activation, respiratory pressures and work of breathing represents 11 out
247 of 18 patients. There were no significant differences in physiological responses during cycling
248 and hyperpnoea between patients with diaphragm EMG and respiratory pressures
249 measurements (n=11, male: n=7 and female: n=4) compared to those without these
250 measurements (n=7, male: n=4 and female: n=3). Subjects were prepared with a venous
251 catheter (Insyte Autoguard BC Winged, 22GA, 0.9 x 25mm) for the measurement of the
252 respiratory and locomotor muscle blood flow index. Using a sterile technique, the catheter was
253 introduced percutaneously into the right or left antecubital forearm vein, oriented in the
254 proximal direction. The catheter was used to inject a bolus of ICG, while it was kept patent

Zafeiris Louvaris 5/10/20 09:21

Deleted:

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:34

Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:34

Deleted: 5

258 throughout the experiment by periodic flushing with saline. One patient did not have
259 respiratory muscle perfusion measures due to contraindications regarding ICG injections.

260 ***Respiratory muscle pressures and work of breathing***

261 The oesophageal/gastric balloon catheter was used for the assessment of Pes, Pga,
262 transdiaphragmatic pressure ($P_{di}=P_{ga}-P_{es}$) and diaphragm EMG activation via five diaphragm
263 electromyography electrode pairs (Yinghui Medical Equipment Technology Co. Ltd.,
264 Guangzhou, China). After optimal placement (20, 45, 58), the catheter was secured at the
265 patient's nose with tape. The diaphragm EMG signals were sampled at 2000 Hz (Micro1401-3,
266 Cambridge Electronic Design Limited, Cambridge, UK), amplified (Biomedical amplifier,
267 Guangzhou, China) and then recorded and processed by a data acquisition software (Spike 2,
268 Cambridge Electronic Design Limited, Cambridge, UK). Diaphragm EMG data were converted
269 into root mean square (RMS) and were expressed as percentages of maximum activation
270 (diaphragm EMG, %max) that was recorded during IC maneuvers (i.e., obtained at rest or
271 during exercise, 20, 73). Respiratory flow signals, Pes and Pga signals were continuously
272 sampled at 100 Hz (Micro1401-3, Cambridge Electronic Design Limited, Cambridge, UK), and
273 then recorded and processed by the same data acquisition software (Spike 2, Cambridge
274 Electronic Design Limited, Cambridge, UK). Maximal Pes and Pdi pressures were measured
275 from FRC during sniff maneuvers, and maximal Pga was measured from TLC during forced
276 expiratory capacity maneuvers. Pes, Pga and Pdi were expressed as percentages of maximal
277 activation and were used as indices of global inspiratory, expiratory and diaphragmatic effort,
278 respectively (45). Pes, Pga, Pdi and WoB over one-minute periods was calculated by
279 integrating volume and pressure generated (e.g., $P_{es} \text{ WoB} = P_{es} \times \text{tidal volume}$), then
280 multiplied by breathing frequency (e.g., $P_{es} \text{ WoB}/\text{min} = P_{es} \text{ WoB} \times \text{bf}$) and presented in
281 L/cmH₂O/min. Pes, Pga and Pdi Pressure-Time Products (PTP) – commonly considered indices
282 of the energy of breathing (46) – were assessed by multiplying each of the pressures by the
283 time of muscle contraction and breathing frequency and presented in cmH₂O/sec/min.

284 ***Respiratory muscle activation***

285 Respiratory muscles activation, for scalene [(sca), left posterior triangle of the neck],
286 sternocleidomastoid [(scm), midpoint along the long axis of the right sternocleidomastoid
287 muscle], parasternal intercostal [(picm), right parasternal space of the 2nd and 3rd rib 3 cm
288 lateral to the sternum], 7th intercostal [(7thicm), midaxillary line, right 7th intercostal space],
289 rectus abdominis [(abd), upper right 1/3 of rectus abdominis below the costal cartilage] and

290 vastus lateralis [(vl), left vastus lateralis muscle 10-12 cm above the knee] was measured by
291 surface electromyography (EMG) (Desktop Direct Transmission (DTS), NORAXON,
292 Scottsdale, USA) (73), sampled at 2000 Hz (Micro1401-3, Cambridge Electronic Design
293 Limited, Cambridge, UK), and then recorded and processed by a data acquisition software
294 (Spike 2, Cambridge Electronic Design Limited, Cambridge, UK). For EMGsca, EMGscm,
295 EMGpicm, EMG7thicm data were expressed as percentages of maximum activation during IC
296 maneuvers (i.e., obtained at rest or during exercise, 20, 73) and for EMGabd data were
297 expressed as percentages of maximum activation during forced expiratory capacity maneuvers
298 (73). EMGvl data of maximum activation were recorded during a maximal voluntary isometric
299 contraction of the knee extensors (40). All ventilatory and respiratory pressures, WoB,
300 respiratory and locomotor muscle activation signals used for comparisons at rest, during
301 hyperpnoea and cycling were the average of all values recorded over the last 60 seconds at rest
302 and during the last 30 seconds of hyperpnoea and cycling.

303 ***Central hemodynamic responses***

304 Cardiac output was measured continuously during hyperpnoea and cycling by an impedance
305 cardiography device (PhysioFlow PF05; Manatec Biomedical, Macheren, France, PhysioFlow).
306 Six electrodes were placed according to the manufacturers' instructions (53). Data points were
307 excluded when signal quality was less than 90% (53). Cardiac output values were recorded at
308 1-second intervals and were the average over the last 60 seconds during rest and during the last
309 30 seconds of hyperpnoea and cycling trials. Systemic oxygen delivery was calculated as the
310 product of cardiac output and arterial oxygen content; the latter was calculated using the
311 following formula: $[1.39 \times \text{hemoglobin concentration [Hb]} \times \%SpO_2]$ (12). Arterio-venous
312 oxygen content (a-vO₂) difference was calculated by dividing whole-body oxygen uptake by
313 cardiac output (73). The oxygen extraction ratio was calculated as the ratio of the arteriovenous
314 oxygen content (a-vO₂) difference to arterial oxygen content and expressed in percentage.
315 Systemic vascular conductance was calculated by dividing cardiac output by the mean arterial
316 blood pressure (73).

317

318

319 ***Muscle blood flow index by NIRS***

320 To measure respiratory and vastus lateralis muscle blood flow index (BFI), we used the
321 NIRS-ICG derived BFI method (32, 36, 54). Specifically, four sets of NIRS probes from two

322 commercial Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS, Continuous Wave, Spatially Resolved
323 Technique, NIRO-200 and a NIRO-200NX; HAMAMATSU Photonics KK) devices were used
324 in combination with the light-absorbing indocyanine green dye (ICG). The four NIRS probes
325 were placed at scalene (right posterior triangle of the neck), 7th intercostal (midaxillary line, left
326 7th intercostal space) and rectus abdominis (upper left 1/3 of rectus abdominis below the costal
327 cartilage) muscles (73). The fourth NIRS probe was placed over the left vastus lateralis muscle
328 | 10-12 cm above the knee (next to EMG electrode) (86). NIRS-ICG derived BFI was calculated
329 by dividing the ICG peak concentration of the muscle by the rise time from 10 to 90% of peak
330 according to established methods and expressed in nanomoles/sec (nmol/sec) (32, 36, 54, 73).
331 In addition, BFI data were adjusted for resting values and expressed as fold change from rest
332 during cycling and hyperpnoea (54). ICG injections for calculating BFI were performed at rest
333 and during the last 30 seconds of hyperpnoea and cycling trials. ICG concentration curves data
334 were exported by NIRS in document file format (i.e., filename extension 'txt') and stored on
335 disk for off-line analysis. ICG concentration curves in 'txt' format were analyzed by using the
336 Chart5 version 5.4.2 (ADInstruments) program. Low-pass filtering with a cutoff frequency of
337 0.5 Hz and smoothing window width (by using the triangular Bartlett window function) of nine
338 points produced the smoothed curve that was used for BFI calculation (36, 54, 73).

339 ***Muscle oxygenation by NIRS***

340 For respiratory and vastus lateralis muscle oxygenation, the same NIRS devices were used.
341 Concentration changes in deoxy (Hb+Mb) were used as an index of muscles oxygen extraction
342 and total (Hb+Mb) as an index of blood volume reflecting changes in microvascular
343 conductance (vasodilation or vasoconstriction responses) for respiratory and vastus lateralis
344 muscles (31). In addition, absolute values of NIRS derived fractional tissue O₂ saturation index
345 (%StiO₂; i.e., the ratio of [oxy(Hb+Mb)] to [total(Hb+Mb)] expressed as a fraction
346 ([oxy(Hb+Mb)]/[total(Hb+Mb)]*100) that reflect the tissue capacity to match oxygen supply
347 | relative to its metabolic demand (31, 52, 84) were also recorded. A path length of 18.6 cm was
348 set up for all respiratory and vastus lateralis muscles. Separation distance between the NIRS
349 light transmitter and receiver probes was 40 mm, thus allowing a maximum NIRS penetration
350 depth of 20 mm. NIRS oxygenation data were sampled at 5 or 6 Hz and averaged during the
351 last 60 seconds at rest and during the last 30 seconds for hyperpnoea and cycling. Adipose
352 tissue thickness (fat + skin layer) were performed by a Harpenden 10-skinfold caliper on the
353 scalene, 7th intercostal space, rectus abdominis and the vastus lateralis muscle (80). The mean

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:35

Deleted: 5

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:36

Deleted: 3

356 values (\pm SD) of the 18 subjects of the adipose tissue for scalene, intercostal, abdominal and
357 vastus lateralis muscles were 3.4 ± 1.6 mm, 8.6 ± 3.8 mm, 11.5 ± 5.0 mm and 7.5 ± 4.4 mm,
358 respectively.

359 *Assessment of quadriceps muscle strength and fatigue*

360 Patients were sitting in a recumbent chair (hips extended at 120° and knees flexed at 90°)
361 with arms crossed in front of the chest (16) for the assessment (right leg) of unpotentiated
362 quadriceps twitch contractions (at 30, 50, 70, 80, 90, 95 and 100% of the maximum stimulator
363 output), maximal voluntary contractions (five isometric MVC for 3 sec) and potentiated
364 quadriceps twitch contractions (five contractions with a twitch at 100% of the power output of
365 the stimulator) before, 10 and 35 min after the constant-load cycle exercise (5). The strain-
366 gauge signal was transformed by an analogue force transducer (546QD; CDS Europe, Milan,
367 Italy), amplified (Biopac mp150; Biopac Systems, Goleta, CA, USA) and then processed with a
368 specific data acquisition and analysis program (AcqKnowledge Software, Biopac Systems,
369 Goleta, CA, USA). The highest values recorded during MVC and during potentiated quadriceps
370 twitch contractions was included in the analysis and expressed in predicted values (3, 74). A
371 fall in potentiated quadriceps twitch contractions of $\geq 15\%$, 10 min after exercise was
372 considered as a sign of significant contractile fatigue (16, 74).

373 *Statistical analysis*

374 Data are expressed as mean \pm SD at rest, cycling and hyperpnoea or as mean difference with
375 95% confidence interval (lower and upper limit) for comparisons between the three conditions
376 (i.e., at rest, cycling and hyperpnoea). The normality of all the data was examined by the
377 Shapiro-Wilk test. Ventilatory and breathing pattern parameters, respiratory muscle pressures
378 and WoB, respiratory and locomotor muscle activation, central hemodynamic and respiratory
379 and locomotor blood flow and oxygenation variables recorded at rest, during hyperpnoea, and
380 cycling were compared using repeated-measures ANOVA or by the Friedman test when normal
381 distribution was violated. When ANOVA (or Friedman test) detected significant differences
382 between rest, hyperpnoea, and cycling, pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni correction (for
383 ANOVA) or using Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test (for Friedman test) were performed as
384 pos-hoc analysis. Changes from rest in respiratory and vastus lateralis muscle BFI and
385 oxygenation variables between cycling and hyperpnoea tests were compared by paired t-tests
386 when normally distributed, or by Wilcoxon signed-rank tests if normal distribution assumptions
387 were not met. Changes in respiratory and vastus lateralis muscle BFI and oxygenation variables

388 between cycling and hyperpnoea tests among patients with different stages of diseases severity
389 were compared by unpaired t-tests when normally distributed, or by Welch's Test if normal
390 distribution assumptions were not met. Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) was used to
391 establish associations between BFI (expressed as the difference between cycling and
392 hyperpnoea) and dyspnoea (expressed as the difference between cycling and hyperpnoea) for
393 intercostal, scalene, rectus abdominis, and vastus lateralis muscles. The minimum sample size
394 was calculated based on 80% power and a two-sided 0.05 significance level. An expected effect
395 size [Cohens d] of 0.497 was calculated based on data from a previous study in patients with
396 COPD (FEV₁: 51±18%predicted) (85), which demonstrated a significant decrease in intercostal
397 muscle %StiO₂ during cycling compared to voluntary normocapnic hyperpnoea. Specifically,
398 that study (85) revealed a mean difference in intercostal muscle %StiO₂ of -2.00% with a
399 corresponding pooled SD of 4.02% between cycling (at 75% of peak work rate, ~60 watts) and
400 hyperpnoea sustained at levels of minute ventilation similar to those recorded during cycling
401 (~45 litres/min). The critical sample size was calculated to be 9 patients using repeated-
402 measures ANOVA as the primary statistical analysis method. Taking into consideration the
403 challenges imposed on patients by the invasive procedures, we decided to recruit 18 patients for
404 obtaining a full dataset for the minimum required number of patients. Data were analyzed using
405 the GraphPad Prism statistical software. The level of significance was set at p<0.05.

406

407 **Results**

408 ***Subject characteristics.***

409 Subject characteristics are shown in Table 1. Five patients were Global Initiative for COPD
410 (GOLD) stage I, seven patients were GOLD stage II, five patients were GOLD stage III and
411 one patient was GOLD stage IV. Patients demonstrated decreased exercise and functional
412 capacity and inspiratory muscle strength and mildly reduced physical activity levels (77)
413 indicated by the physical activity measures (Table 1).

414 ***Breathing pattern, symptoms and locomotor muscle fatigue***

415 Tidal volume, breathing frequency, and duty cycle did not differ between hyperpnoea and
416 cycling sustained at comparable levels of minute ventilation (p>0.1 for all comparisons, Table
417 2). Peak inspiratory flows did not differ between the two conditions (p=0.97). During cycling
418 patients demonstrated a significant reduction from rest in inspiratory capacity (p<0.0001, Table

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:36

Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:36

Deleted: 4

421 2). Specifically, the decrease from rest in inspiratory capacity during cycling did not
422 significantly differ among patients with different stages of disease severity (GOLD I: $-0.394 \pm$
423 0.407 , GOLD II: -0.441 ± -0.480 , GOLD III-IV: -0.493 ± -0.395 L, $p > 0.1$). Dyspnoea at end of
424 cycling was significantly higher compared to hyperpnoea ($p = 0.0008$, Table 2). Leg discomfort
425 at end of cycling was 7.0 ± 2.8 on the 10-Borg scale. The primary reason for stopping cycling
426 was dyspnoea ($n = 7$), leg discomfort alone ($n = 4$) and the combination of both leg discomfort
427 and dyspnoea ($n = 7$). Compared to resting values of potentiated quadriceps twitch contraction
428 force (11.5 ± 4.3 kg), this was significantly decreased on average by $22 \pm 21\%$ and $23 \pm 17\%$,
429 10 and 35 min after the end of the constant-load exercise test (visit 2), respectively (*10 min*: 9.2
430 ± 4.5 kg and *40 min*: 9.1 ± 4.2 kg, both $p < 0.001$).

431 ***Respiratory pressures and work of breathing***

432 Pes, Pdi and expiratory Pga significantly increased from rest during both hyperpnoea and
433 cycling trials ($p < 0.0001$ for all comparisons) (Table 2). No significant differences in Pes, Pdi
434 and expiratory Pga were observed between the two conditions ($p > 0.1$ for all
435 comparisons). Inspiratory WoB (both Pes and Pdi) significantly increased from rest during both
436 hyperpnoea and cycling trials ($p < 0.0001$ for all comparisons) but we did not observe any
437 significant differences between the two conditions ($p = 0.44$ and $p = 0.24$, respectively) (Table 2).
438 Expiratory WoB (Pga) significantly increased from rest only during hyperpnoea ($p = 0.002$).
439 However, no significant differences in expiratory WoB were found between hyperpnoea and
440 cycling ($p = 0.51$) (Table 2). The pressure-time products (PTP) of Pes and Pdi significantly
441 increased from rest during both hyperpnoea and cycling ($p < 0.0001$ for all comparisons),
442 whereas no significant differences were found between the two conditions ($p = 0.35$ and $p = 0.93$,
443 respectively) (Table 2). PTP of expiratory gastric pressure significantly increased from rest
444 during both hyperpnoea and cycling ($p = 0.001$ and $p = 0.003$, respectively) and tended to be
445 significantly greater during hyperpnoea compared to cycling ($p = 0.083$) (Table 2).

446

447

448 ***Activation of respiratory and locomotor muscles***

449 Activation of all respiratory muscles significantly increased from rest during hyperpnoea
450 and cycling ($p < 0.0001$ for all comparisons) (Table 3). Furthermore, only sternocleidomastoid
451 muscle activation was found to be significantly greater during hyperpnoea compared to cycling

452 (p=0.005). As expected, vastus lateralis muscle activation significantly increased from rest
453 (p=0.0005) and was significantly greater during cycling compared to hyperpnoea (p=0.009).

454 ***Central hemodynamic and metabolic responses***

455 Heart rate, stroke volume, cardiac output, and oxygen consumption significantly increased
456 from rest during hyperpnoea and cycling (p<0.0001 for all comparisons) and were significantly
457 greater during cycling compared to hyperpnoea (p=0.001-0.0001) (Table 4). Furthermore,
458 arterial oxygen saturation significantly decreased from rest during cycling (p=0.0007) and was
459 significantly lower compared to hyperpnoea (p=0.0018) (Table 4). Systemic oxygen delivery,
460 systemic arteriovenous oxygen content difference and oxygen extraction were significantly
461 greater during cycling compared to hyperpnoea (p=0.0001- p=0.0033, Table 4). Mean arterial
462 blood pressure and systemic vascular conductance were significantly increased from rest during
463 hyperpnoea (p=0.006, p=0.009, respectively) and cycling (p=0.0001, p<0.0001, respectively)
464 and were greater during cycling compared to hyperpnoea (p=0.0012, p<0.0001, respectively)
465 (Table 4).

466 ***Perfusion responses of respiratory and locomotor muscles***

467 During cycling, vastus lateralis muscle BFI significantly increased from rest (p=0.0005) and
468 was greater compared to hyperpnoea (p=0.0005, Figure 2 D and Table 5). However, scalene
469 (p=0.74), 7th intercostal (p=0.072) and abdominal muscle BFI (p=0.093) did not significantly
470 differ from resting levels (Figure 2 A, B and C and Table 5). Moreover, during cycling scalene
471 (p=0.0018), intercostal (p=0.0039) and abdominal (p=0.0045) muscle BFI was significantly
472 lower compared to hyperpnoea (Figure 2 A, B and C and Table 5). Similarly, when BFI values
473 were expressed as fold changes from rest, vastus lateralis muscle BFI during cycling was
474 significantly greater (p=0.001), whilst scalene (p=0.0003), intercostal (p=0.0017) and
475 abdominal (p=0.023) muscle BFI were significantly lower compare to hyperpnoea (Figure 3 A,
476 B and C). In addition, the pattern of change in respiratory muscle BFI (i.e., decrease) and leg
477 muscle BFI (i.e., increase) to cycling versus hyperpnoea was the same across different stages of
478 COPD severity (Table 6).

479

480 ***Oxygenation responses of respiratory and locomotor muscles***

481 During hyperpnoea, total [Hb+Mb] concentration increased from rest in scalene (p=0.0027),
482 7th intercostal (p=0.079) and abdominal (p=0.028) muscles (Table 5). In addition, during
483 hyperpnoea, total [Hb+Mb] concentration was greater for the scalene (p=0.0061), 7th intercostal

484 (p=0.054) and abdominal (p=0.033) muscles compared to cycling (Table 5). During cycling,
485 deoxy [Hb+Mb] concentration significantly increased from rest in intercostal (p=0.009),
486 abdominal (p=0.0027) and vastus lateralis muscle (p=0.0042) and it was found to be
487 significantly greater for the 7th intercostal (p=0.0006) and abdominal muscles (p=0.0011)
488 compared to hyperpnoea (Table 5). During hyperpnoea, scalene, 7th intercostal, abdominal and
489 vastus lateralis muscle %StiO₂ was not different compared to that recorded at rest (p>0.05,
490 Figure 4 and Table 5). In contrast, during cycling, a significant reduction from rest in %StiO₂
491 was observed in scalene (p<0.0001), 7th intercostal (p=0.0015), abdominal (p<0.0001) and
492 vastus lateralis muscle (p=0.0013) (Figure 4 and Table 5). Furthermore, scalene (p<0.0001), 7th
493 intercostal (p=0.0002) abdominal (p<0.0001) and vastus lateralis muscle (p=0.0009) %StiO₂
494 was significantly lower during cycling compared to hyperpnoea (Figure 4 and Table 5). In
495 addition, no significant differences were found in respiratory and leg muscles %StiO₂ to
496 cycling versus hyperpnoea across different stages of COPD severity (Table 6).

497 *Associations between muscle activation, perfusion and dyspnoea during cycling and* 498 *hyperpnoea*

499 We found significant inverse relationships between the reduction in the BFI of scalene and
500 7th intercostal muscles and the greater dyspnoea scores in cycling compared to hyperpnoea (r=-
501 0.54, p=0.026 and r=-0.49, p=0.043, respectively). No significant relationships were found for
502 abdominal and vastus lateralis muscle BFI and dyspnoea scores (r=-0.32, p=0.020 and r=0.05,
503 p=0.83, respectively). In addition, no significant relationships were found amongst differences
504 in activation of diaphragm, scalene, parasternal, 7th intercostal and abdominal muscles and the
505 differences in dyspnoea scores between cycling and hyperpnoea trial (p>0.1). Finally, no
506 significant relationships were found between differences in activation of scalene, 7th intercostal
507 and abdominal muscles and differences in their perfusion between cycling and hyperpnoea
508 trials (p>0.1).

509

510

511 **Discussion**

512 *Main findings*

513 The main findings of the present study in patients with COPD are as follows. 1) During
514 hyperpnoea, when locomotor muscles did not compete with the respiratory muscles for the

Zafeiris Louvaris 29/9/20 11:51

Deleted: Figure 5 A and B

Zafeiris Louvaris 29/9/20 11:54

Deleted: Figure 5 C and D

517 available blood flow, intercostal, scalene, and abdominal local muscle perfusion was
518 significantly increased from rest (Figure 2 and 3, and Table 5). However, during [high-intensity](#),
519 exercise (i.e., 80% WRpeak), intercostal, scalene, and abdominal local muscle perfusion did not
520 increase from rest (Figure 2 and 3, and Table 5) whilst cardiac output reached peak values
521 (Tables 1 and 4). 2) Intercostal, scalene, and abdominal muscle oxygen extraction (inferred by
522 deoxy [Hb+Mb]) was greater and microvascular conductance (inferred by total [Hb+Mb]) and
523 oxygen saturation (%StiO₂) were lower during cycling compared to hyperpnoea (Figure 4 and
524 Table 5). 3) Lack of increase from resting levels in respiratory muscle perfusion during
525 exercise compared to hyperpnoea occurred at comparable levels of respiratory muscle
526 activation and work of breathing (Table 3) and it was associated with greater dyspnoea
527 sensations. Collectively, these results suggest that [high-intensity](#) exercise interferes with
528 extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle perfusion and that limitations in extradiaphragmatic
529 respiratory muscle perfusion during cycling may, in part, explain the increased dyspnoea
530 sensation in exercising patients with COPD.

531 *Mechanisms of insufficient adjustments in respiratory muscle perfusion during cycling*

532 We considered several factors that might be singly or jointly responsible for the insufficient
533 adjustments in extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle perfusion during cycling. First, patients
534 across different stages of disease severity (35), exhibited a profound degree of dynamic lung
535 hyperinflation during cycling which may [have](#), in turn, hindered the normal increase in cardiac
536 output (Table 2). Indeed, heart compression and intrathoracic hypovolemia consequent to
537 exercise-induced dynamic hyperinflation, have been postulated to impede the normal increase
538 in cardiac output (4, 51, 82) whilst reductions in dynamic lung hyperinflation by
539 bronchodilators or Heliox administration have been shown to improve cardiac function during
540 [high-intensity](#) exercise in patients with COPD (46, 47, 55, 87). Under these circumstances the
541 circulatory system may be unable to meet the demands of the respiratory muscles during
542 cycling requiring greater muscle oxygen extraction (85). [Indeed, we found that for a](#)
543 [comparable work of breathing between hyperpnoea and cycling, insufficient respiratory muscle](#)
544 [blood flow \(Figure 2 and 3, Table 5 and 6\) during cycling was associated with greater](#)
545 [respiratory muscle oxygen extraction as this was inferred by a greater increase in deoxy](#)
546 [\[Hb+Mb\] compared to hyperpnoea.](#)

547 Secondly, a potential mechanical impediment to extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle
548 perfusion might be due to intense muscle contraction and the development of high

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:52

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:04

Deleted: (Figure 5)

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:52

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:39

Deleted: 1

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:52

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:39

Deleted: 6

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:39

Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 1/10/20 14:57

Deleted: Our findings clearly indicate that for a comparable work of breathing between hyperpnoea and exercise, greater respiratory muscle oxygen extraction (inferred by deoxy [Hb+Mb]), occurred during cycling consequently to insufficient respiratory muscle blood flow (Figure 2 and 3, Table 5 and 6).

Zafeiris Louvaris 1/10/20 14:57

Deleted:

564 intramuscular pressures (19, 50, 75). Actually, the decrease in the operational capacity and
565 potential deformation of vessels (squeezing or extension) within the inspiratory muscles
566 resulting from the elevation of the ribs and sternum due to dynamic lung hyperinflation and/or
567 strong recruitment of the abdominal muscles in the face of expiratory flow limitation may
568 compromise extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle perfusion (54, 55, 57, 60, 87, 90). In
569 support of this mechanism, we previously demonstrated in patients with COPD that a reduction
570 in dynamic lung hyperinflation and inspiratory and expiratory pressures during cycling by
571 Heliox administration lead to an increase in both intercostal and abdominal muscle blood flow
572 compared to room air breathing (55, 87).

573 Thirdly, an increased sympathetic vasoconstrictor outflow to the respiratory muscles upon
574 activation of the respiratory muscle metaboreflex may also provide a possible explanation for
575 the insufficient adjustment in respiratory muscle perfusion during cycling (76). In this context,
576 recently, it was suggested that muscle contractions of the respiratory muscles during [high-](#)
577 [intensity](#) exercise can cause increased group III and IV afferent activity leading to a
578 sympathetically mediated vasoconstriction, thereby contributing to limitations in respiratory
579 muscle blood flow and O₂ transport (76). The proposed greater development of intramuscular
580 pressures and increased sympathetically mediated vasoconstriction [to the respiratory muscles](#)
581 during cycling compared to hyperpnoea are supported by the findings (Table 5) showing lower
582 microvascular conductance, inferred by lower total [Hb+Mb] during cycling compared to
583 hyperpnoea, for all measured by NIRS extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscles. [Therefore, the](#)
584 [results of the present study do not provide evidence that insufficient adjustment in respiratory](#)
585 [muscle perfusion during exercise is attributed to blood flow redistribution from the respiratory](#)
586 [to the locomotor muscles but support the notion that central hemodynamic and local muscle](#)
587 [mechanical impairments may contribute to the impediment of respiratory muscle perfusion](#)
588 [during exercise in patients with COPD.](#)

589 ***Association between respiratory muscle perfusion and dyspnoea***

590 We found that at comparable levels of global respiratory muscle work, dyspnoea sensations
591 were significantly greater during cycling compared to hyperpnoea (Tables 2 and 3).
592 Furthermore, we demonstrated that the lower respiratory (intercostal and scalene) muscle BFI
593 during cycling compared to hyperpnoea was associated with greater dyspnoea sensations
594 during cycling. [A potential explanation is that the lower local respiratory muscle BFI and](#)
595 [microvascular oxygen supply during cycling compared to hyperpnoea would be expected to](#)

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:39

Deleted: 6

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:39

Deleted: 89

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:39

Deleted: 6

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:53

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:09

Deleted: (Figure 5)

601 increase respiratory muscle metabolic acidosis and sensory afferent traffic in type III-IV fibres
602 (innervating respiratory muscles) to the somatosensory cortex, thereby increasing the sensory
603 intensity of unsatisfied inspiration during the cycling trial (49, 65, 66). Our findings are in line
604 with previous and more recent studies in healthy individuals and in patients with chronic
605 diseases (39, 41, 88) showing that skeletal muscle fatigue resistance is closely coupled with
606 functional microvascular circulation for supporting adequate gas exchange, delivery of
607 nutrients and removal of metabolites. Furthermore, our results corroborate with previous
608 findings showing that improvements in intercostal and abdominal muscle oxygen delivery by
609 Oxygen or Heliox supplementation are associated with reduced dyspnoea in patients with
610 COPD (86, 54-57) (Table 2). However, part of the greater dyspnoea that patients demonstrated
611 during cycling compared to hyperpnoea may be explained by [ventilatory constraints \(Table 2\)](#)
612 [and by the increase in peripheral locomotor muscle metabolic acidosis \(leading to quadriceps](#)
613 [muscle fatigue, see results section\) and the greater sensory afferent traffic in type III-IV fibres](#)
614 [to the somatosensory cortex as previously described by O'Donnell et al. \(65, 66\). Nevertheless,](#)
615 [despite the association between diminished extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle perfusion](#)
616 [and greater dyspnoea levels, the mechanism\(s\) underlying this association remains not clear](#)
617 [and future studies need to investigate the contributing role of impaired respiratory muscle](#)
618 [perfusion during exercise on dyspnoea levels in these patients.](#) **Strength and methodological**
619 **considerations**

620 Unique to our investigation is the simultaneous assessment of inspiratory, expiratory, and
621 leg muscle perfusion whilst concomitantly assessing central haemodynamics and ensuring
622 comparable work of breathing during hyperpnoea and exercise. Complementary to our study
623 were the measures of the neural respiratory drive (diaphragm and extradiaphragmatic
624 [respiratory](#) muscles activation by EMG) during hyperpnoea and cycling to better understand
625 whether differences in respiratory muscle perfusion partly account for the greater dyspnoea
626 levels during [high-intensity](#) exercise. To the best of our knowledge previous studies in patients
627 with COPD focused on the perfusion of the 7th intercostal space, acknowledging the potential
628 technical limitation of this site measurement (76, 83). We opted to investigate -besides
629 intercostal muscles- the perfusion of the scalene muscle as it represents a superficial primary
630 muscle of inspiration (27) with high activity at rest and during [high-intensity](#) exercise in
631 patients with COPD (25, 92). Furthermore, the abdominal muscles are the major muscles of
632 expiration and are activated by patients with COPD even during quiet breathing (63), whereas

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:41

Deleted: 7

Zafeiris Louvaris 29/9/20 13:29

Deleted: -

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:53

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 5/10/20 10:54

Deleted: 2

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:53

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 5/10/20 10:55

Deleted: 1

639 their efficiency is not affected as much by the occurrence of lung hyperinflation during exercise
640 compared with the diaphragm (24).

641 To avoid arterial cannulation we assessed relative muscle perfusion using the NIRS-derived
642 BFI method (33, 36, 54). We observed that during cycling, four patients demonstrated a modest
643 increase in BFI of vastus lateralis as their values fall outside the lower limits of confidence
644 interval whilst two patients demonstrated a decrease in vastus lateralis BFI compared to rest
645 (*BFI responses of the six patients are marked with open symbols in Figure 3*). Nevertheless, the
646 insufficient increase in leg muscle BFI of these six patients was not associated with a
647 concomitant increase in their respiratory muscle BFI, to support that in these patients high-
648 intensity exercise did not impair their extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle perfusion (*Figure*
649 *3 A, B and C, open symbols*). Furthermore, the large inter-subject variability observed in BFI of
650 respiratory and vastus lateralis muscles (Figure 2) could be attributed to inter-subject variability
651 in subcutaneous tissue, muscle vasculature and capillary density and/or in the large variation in
652 work rate (range, min: 25 watts /max: 100 watts) and minute ventilation (range, min: ~12
653 liters/min / max: ~71 liters/min) patients exhibited during the trials. Therefore, the
654 mentioned parameters had to be taken into account when using the NIRS-ICG
655 methodology for comparing BFI data on an individual level (36, 54).

656 During cycling, patients exhibited moderate arterial oxygen desaturation (Table 4) that could
657 have contributed to the greater respiratory (and locomotor) muscle hypoxemia compared to
658 hyperpnoea (Table 5 and Figure 4). However, it is challenging to appreciate the effects of
659 arterial hypoxemia on muscle perfusion and oxygenation responses during cycling compared to
660 hyperpnoea for two reasons. First, this would have required an experimental condition where
661 patients would cycle under hyperoxia (aiming to prevent arterial oxygen desaturation) and
662 second, because during cycling cardiac output and systemic oxygen delivery were two-fold
663 greater compared to hyperpnoea.

664 In the present study, we employed a single bout of cycling corresponding to a high-intensity,
665 load (80%WRpeak) causing profound ventilatory, respiratory, and circulatory responses. Hence
666 the physiological and symptom responses described in this context are pertinent only to high-
667 intensity, sustained exercise that is commonly adopted to assess the efficacy of
668 pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions in patients with COPD (69). However,
669 the results of the present study may have limited external validity and practical significance
670 during activities of daily living where it has been shown that the average energy requirement

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:12

Deleted: red colour

Zafeiris Louvaris 5/10/20 10:57

Deleted: distribution in these patients was more preferable to the

Zafeiris Louvaris 5/10/20 10:58

Deleted: s

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:13

Deleted: red colour

Zafeiris Louvaris 1/10/20 15:37

Deleted: Therefore, these findings and those from others (36, 54) suggest that the use of NIRS derived BFI method might be more meaningful for comparing BFI data in a group rather than on an individual level.

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:53

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:53

Deleted: strenuous

683 [corresponds to a moderate intensity of physical activity \(i.e. approximately 50% of VO₂peak ,](#)
684 [81\).](#)

685 We deliberately chose non-invasive procedures for assessing central hemodynamic and
686 respiratory and locomotor muscle oxygenation responses to cause minimal stress and pain to
687 the patients and recognize the debate that exists in the literature for their absolute accuracy
688 compared with gold standard methodologies (7, 12, 13, 31, 53, 54). [Nevertheless, this study is](#)
689 [based on a repeated-measures design, with the main purpose being to measure the same](#)
690 [participants under different conditions \(i.e., rest, hyperpnoea and cycling\). Therefore, any](#)
691 [systematic errors from the use of these non-invasive methodologies would not contribute to](#)
692 [uncertainty in these repeated measures comparisons of the same group of patients.](#)

693 **Study limitation**

694 The study could have been benefited from the inclusion of an elderly, age-matched healthy
695 control group to determine whether the insufficient adjustment in respiratory muscle perfusion
696 associated with greater dyspnoea levels during exercise was due to COPD, age, inactivity or
697 other factors. However, as this study is part of a larger randomized clinical trial in patients with
698 COPD, the recruitment of a healthy group was not feasible.

699 We used continuous wave (CW) near-infrared spectrometers (spatial resolved spectroscopy
700 [SRS], Hamamatsu photonics), where the light source is of constant intensity, and providing
701 changes in superficial muscle haeme components from an arbitrary baseline (10). Recently
702 more advanced near-infrared spectrometers incorporating time-domain technology can provide
703 deeper muscle NIRS readings and absolute concentrations of the heme components in tissues of
704 interest (10, 30, 43, 67). However, NIRS devices based on CW technology are the only
705 commercial instruments with the capacity to simultaneously measure tissue haeme variables
706 and ICG concentrations for the calculation of tissue perfusion.

707 Due to limitations in the number of NIRS probes, measures were performed on a single
708 muscle site for both respiratory and leg muscles acknowledging the substantial heterogeneity
709 evident especially within the locomotor muscles (42, 44, 52, 84). Besides, we did not assess the
710 reproducibility of the BFI measures during hyperpnoea and cycling assuming minimal variation
711 due to steady state exercise (cycling and hyperpnoea) which in turn might cause insignificant
712 variation in central hemodynamic, metabolic and ventilatory variables. In support of this, a
713 recent study by Dominelli et al. (26), found reproducible BFI values (assessed by NIRS) in

Zafeiris Louvaris 5/10/20 09:37

Deleted: Nevertheless, this study is based on a repeated-measures design, with the main purpose being to perform within-subject comparisons of the physiological data obtained during hyperpnoea and cycling. Therefore, any systematic errors from the use of these non-invasive methodologies would not contribute to uncertainty in these within-subject comparisons.

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:47

Deleted: 3

724 both vastus lateralis and sternocleidomastoid muscles when ventilation, oxygen uptake, and
725 WoB was consistent between repeated inspiratory muscle loading trials.

726 Performing the hyperpnoea trial first and the cycling protocol afterwards (on the same day)
727 may have influenced respiratory muscle oxygen delivery and uptake kinetic responses during
728 the cycling test owing to muscle warm-up (1, 2, 15). However, the findings that before cycling,
729 baseline values of heart rate (79 ± 15 beats/min), cardiac output (5.5 ± 1.4 litres/min) and %StiO₂
730 in scalene ($68 \pm 9\%$), 7th intercostal ($76 \pm 11\%$) and abdominal muscles ($81 \pm 17\%$) did not differ
731 compared to resting values (Figure 4 and Table 3 and 4, $p > 0.01$) suggest that the time elapsed
732 between the two protocols eliminated any effect of prior exercise on respiratory muscle blood
733 flow regulation during cycling. Besides, patients' dyspnoea sensations prior to the cycling test
734 (0.9 ± 1.0) returned to resting levels (Table 2, $p > 0.05$). Inspiratory capacity manoeuvres for
735 evaluating dynamic lung hyperinflation were not performed during hyperpnoea [thereby](#)
736 [enabling patients to better focus on reaching the targeted breathing pattern and minute](#)
737 [ventilation](#), (34, 85, 86). However, whether dynamic lung hyperinflation, if any, compromised
738 [diaphragm and extradiaphragmatic](#) respiratory muscle perfusion during hyperpnoea was not
739 evaluated in the present study.

740 Respiratory muscle pressures and work of breathing could not be measured in 7 out of 18
741 patients. We argue that this limitation did not affect the findings of the present investigation.

742 Similar studies in healthy individuals and in patients with COPD (85, 86) demonstrated that
743 manipulation of the breathing pattern is sufficient to lead to similar respiratory muscle
744 pressures and work of breathing between hyperpnoea and cycling trials as seen in this study.

745 [Finally, measures of respiratory muscle twitch force assessed by magnetic stimulation of](#)
746 [phrenic nerves to evaluate potential respiratory muscle fatigue during cycling and hyperpnoea](#)
747 [would have further strengthened our study.](#) *Clinical implications and future perspectives*

748 Randomised controlled trials in patients with COPD (17, 29, 45) have demonstrated that
749 specific inspiratory muscle strength training (IMT) alone or as an adjunct intervention to an
750 aerobic exercise training program may induce significant improvements in exercise capacity
751 and dyspnoea sensations. Besides, evidence showing that implementation of high-intensity IMT
752 in patients with chronic heart failure may improve the perfusion of exercising muscles (during
753 upper limb muscle exercise) (18) potentially by attenuating the respiratory muscle
754 metabaroreflex (91). In this context, studies in patients with COPD and in healthy individuals
755 have shown an increase in the proportion of type I fibres and the size of type II fibres in the

Zafeiris Louvaris 5/10/20 09:40
Deleted: for avoiding distraction of patients to reach the targeted breathing pattern and minute ventilation

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:47
Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:47
Deleted: 5

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:48
Deleted: 4

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:48
Deleted: 5

Zafeiris Louvaris 1/10/20 12:07
Deleted: -

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 12:48
Deleted: 0

765 external intercostal muscles along with improvements in respiratory muscle energy efficiency,
766 following implementation of a high-intensity IMT intervention (72, 79). Furthermore,
767 Rodrigues et al. (73) recently demonstrated that the stimuli imposed on the extradiaphragmatic
768 muscles during high-intensity IMT by tapered flow resistive loading yielded a considerable
769 increase in extradiaphragmatic muscle recruitment and metabolism, thus expecting substantial
770 training adaptations to extradiaphragmatic muscles following several weeks of IMT. Yet, the
771 effects of several weeks of IMT on perfusion, oxygenation, and activation pattern of
772 extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscles during [high-intensity](#) exercise remain unknown in
773 patients with COPD (45). In addition, whether potential improvements in these physiological
774 responses following IMT are associated with lower degrees of respiratory muscle fatigue and
775 reduced dyspnoea sensations during whole-body exercise would be of specific interest to be
776 investigated in patients with COPD.

777 **Conclusions**

778 The results of the present study suggest that in patients with COPD [high-intensity](#),
779 locomotor muscle work during exercise interferes with extradiaphragmatic respiratory muscle
780 perfusion despite a two-fold increase in cardiac output. Insufficient respiratory muscle
781 perfusion during [high-intensity](#) exercise has a profound effect on extradiaphragmatic
782 respiratory muscle oxygen availability and it is associated with greater dyspnoea sensations in
783 patients with COPD.

784
785
786
787
788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:54

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:54

Deleted: strenuous

Zafeiris Louvaris 2/10/20 11:54

Deleted: strenuous

803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811
812
813
814
815
816
817
818
819
820
821
822
823
824
825
826
827
828
829
830
831
832
833
834
835
836
837
838
839
840
841
842
843

Acknowledgments

We thank our subjects for their considerable patience during this investigation.

Grants

This research project was supported by Research Foundation Flanders (FWO): G0A4516N - ZKC9570 - C22/15/035. Dr. Zafeiris Louvaris was recipient of an ERS fellowship (LTRF 2016-6686) and a postdoctoral fellow of Research Foundation Flanders (FWO - 12U5618N). Antenor Rodrigues was supported by the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES), Brazil (88881.188754/2018-01). Prof. Sauwaluk Dacha was supported by Chiang Mai University's scholarship, Chiang Mai, Thailand (Ref. No. 6392(7)/0807).

Disclosure

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

844
845
846
847
848
849
850
851
852
853
854
855
856
857
858
859
860
861
862
863
864
865
866
867
868
869
870
871
872
873
874
875
876
877
878
879
880
881
882
883
884
885

References

1. **Aaron EA, Johnson BD, Seow CK, Dempsey JA.** Oxygen cost of exercise hyperpnoea: measurement. *J Appl Physiol* 72: 1810-1817, 1992.
2. **Aaron EA, Seow KC, Johnson BD, Dempsey JA.** Oxygen cost of exercise hyperpnoea: implications for performance. *J Appl Physiol* 72:1818-1825, 1992.
3. **Allaire J, Maltais F, Doyon JF, Noël M, LeBlanc P, Carrier G, Simard C, Jobin J.** Peripheral muscle endurance and the oxidative profile of the quadriceps in patients with COPD. *Thorax* 59: 673-678, 2004.
4. **Aliverti A & Macklem PT.** The major limitation to exercise performance in COPD is inadequate energy supply to the respiratory and locomotor muscles. *J Appl Physiol* 105: 749 – 751, 2008.
5. **Amann M, Regan MS, Kobitany M, Eldridge MW, Boutellier U, Pegelow DF, Dempsey JA.** Impact of pulmonary system limitations on locomotor muscle fatigue in patients with COPD. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 299: R314-324, 2010.
6. **American Thoracic Society, American College of Chest P. ATS/ACCP.** Statement on cardiopulmonary exercise testing. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med* 167: 211-277, 2003.

- 886 7. **Ascha M, Bhattacharyya A, Ramos JA, Tonelli AR.** Pulse Oximetry, and Arterial
887 Oxygen Saturation during Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 50: 1992-
888 1997, 2018.
- 889
890 8. **ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test.** *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*
891 1661: 111-117, 2002.
- 892
893 9. **Barstow TJ.** Understanding near infrared spectroscopy and its application to skeletal
894 muscle research. *J Appl Physiol* 126: 1360-1376, 2019.
- 895
896 10. **Blackie SP, Fairbairn MS, McElvaney GN, Morrison NJ, Wilcox PG, Pardy RL.**
897 Prediction of maximal oxygen uptake and power during cycle ergometry in subjects older than
898 55 years of age. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 139: 1424-1429, 1989.
- 899
900 11. **Borg GA.** Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 14: 377-381,
901 1982.
- 902
903 12. **Borghi-Silva A, Oliveira CC, Carrascosa C, Maia J, Berton DC, Queiroga F Jr,**
904 **Ferreira EM, Almeida DR, Nery LE, Neder JA.** Respiratory muscle unloading improves leg
905 muscle oxygenation during exercise in patients with COPD. *Thorax* 63: 910-915, 2008.
- 906
907 13. **Bougault V, Lonsdorfer-Wolf E, Charloux A, Richard R, Geny B, Oswald-**
908 **Mammosser M.** Does thoracic bioimpedance accurately determine cardiac output in COPD
909 patients during maximal or intermittent exercise? *Chest* 127: 1122-1131, 2005.
- 910
911 14. **Boushel R, Langberg H, Olesen J, Nowak M, Simonsen L, Bulow J, Kjaer M.**
912 Regional blood flow during exercise in humans measured by near-infrared spectroscopy and
913 indocyanine green. *J Appl Physiol* 89: 1868-1878, 2000.
- 914
915 15. **Buchheit M, Laursen PB, Ahmaidi S.** Effect of prior exercise on pulmonary O₂ uptake
916 and estimated muscle capillary blood flow kinetics during moderate-intensity field running in
917 men. *J Appl Physiol* 107: 460-470, 2009.
- 918
919 16. **Burtin C, Saey D, Saglam M, Langer D, Gosselink R, Janssens W, Decramer M,**
920 **Maltais F, Troosters T.** Effectiveness of exercise training in patients with COPD: the role of
921 muscle fatigue. *Eur Respir J* 40: 338-344, 2012.
- 922
923 17. **Charusisin N, Gosselink R, Decramer M, Demeyer H, McConnell A, Saey D, Maltais**
924 **F, Derom E, Vermeersch S, Heijdra YF, van Helvoort H, Garms L, Schneeberger T,**
925 **Kenn K, Gloeckl R, Langer D.** Randomised controlled trial of adjunctive inspiratory muscle
926 training for patients with COPD. *Thorax* 73: 942-950, 2018.
- 927
928 18. **Chiappa GR, Roseguini BT, Vieira PJ, Alves CN, Tavares A, Winkelmann ER, Ferlin**
929 **EL, Stein R, Ribeiro JP.** Inspiratory muscle training improves blood flow to resting and
930 exercising limbs in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 29:1663-1671, 2008.

931
932 19. **Crenshaw AG, Karlsson S, Gerdle B, Fridén J.** Differential responses in intramuscular
933 pressure and EMG fatigue indicators during low- vs. high-level isometric contractions to
934 fatigue. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica* 160: 353-361, 1997.
935
936 20. **Dacha S, Janssens L, Rodrigues A, Louvaris Z, Janssens L, Gosselink R, Langer D.**
937 Comparison Between Manual and (Semi-) Automated Analyses of Oesophageal Diaphragm
938 Electromyography During Endurance Cycling in Patients With COPD. *Front Physiol* 10:885,
939 2019.
940
941 21. **Demeyer H, Burtin C, Van Remoortel H, Hornikx M, Langer D, Decramer M,**
942 **Gosselink R, Janssens W, Troosters T.** Standardizing the analysis of physical activity in
943 patients with COPD following a pulmonary rehabilitation programme. *Chest* 146: 318-327,
944 2014.
945
946 22. **Dempsey JA, Romer L, Rodman J, Miller J, Smith C.** Consequences of exercise-
947 induced respiratory muscle work. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 151: 242-250, 2006.
948
949 23. **Dempsey JA, Sheel AW, St Croix, CM, Morgan BJ.** Respiratory influences on
950 sympathetic vasomotor outflow in humans. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 130: 3-20, 2002.
951
952 24. **De Troyer A.** Effects of hyperinflation on diaphragm. *Eur Respir J* 24: 313-322, 2004.
953
954 25. **De Troyer A, Peche R, Yernault, JC, Estenne M.** Neck muscle activity in patients with
955 severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 150: 41-47, 1994.
956
957 26. **Dominelli PB, Archiza B, Ramsook AH, Mitchell RA, Peters CM, Molgat-Seon Y,**
958 **Sheel AW.** Effects of respiratory muscle work on respiratory and locomotor blood flow during
959 exercise. *Exp Physiol* 102: 1535-1547, 2017.
960
961 27. **Fournier M, Lewis MI.** Functional role and structure of the scalene: an accessory
962 inspiratory muscle in hamster. *J Appl Physiol* 81: 2436-2444, 1996.
963
964 28. **Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease.** Global strategy for the
965 diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Updated
966 2014): [http://www.goldcopd.org/uploads/ users/files/GOLD_Report2014_Feb07, 2014](http://www.goldcopd.org/uploads/users/files/GOLD_Report2014_Feb07, 2014).
967
968 29. **Gosselink R, De Vos J, van den Heuvel SP, Segers J, Decramer M, Kwakkel G.** Impact
969 of inspiratory muscle training in patients with COPD: what is the evidence? *Eur Respir J* 37:
970 416-425, 2011.
971
972 30. **Goulding RP, Okushima D, Marwood S, Poole DC, Barstow TJ, Lei TH, Kondo N,**
973 **Koga S.** Impact of supine exercise on muscle deoxygenation kinetics heterogeneity:
974 Mechanistic insights into slow pulmonary oxygen uptake dynamics. *J Appl Physiol* doi:
975 10.1152/jappphysiol.00213.2020. Online ahead of print.
976

- 977 31. **Grassi B, Quaresima V.** Near-infrared spectroscopy and skeletal muscle oxidative
978 function in vivo in health and disease: a review from an exercise physiology perspective.
979 *Journal of Biomedical Optics* 21, 091313, 2016.
980
- 981 32. **Guenette JA, Henderson WR, Dominelli PB, Querido JS, Brasher PM, Griesdale DE,**
982 **Boushel R, Sheel AW.** Blood flow index using near-infrared spectroscopy and indocyanine
983 green as a minimally invasive tool to assess respiratory muscle blood flow in humans. *Am J*
984 *Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 300: 984-992, 2011.
985
- 986 33. **Guenette JA, Vogiatzis I, Zakynthinos S, Athanasopoulos D, Koskolou M, Golemati**
987 **S, Vasilopoulou M, Wagner HE, Roussos C, Wagner PD & Boushel R.** Human respiratory
988 muscle blood flow measured by near-infrared spectroscopy and indocyanine green. *J Appl*
989 *Physiol* 104: 1202-1210, 2008.
990
- 991 34. **Guenette JA, Chin RC, Cory JM, Webb K, O'Donnell DE.** Inspiratory capacity during
992 exercise: measurement, analysis, and interpretation. *Pulm Med* 956081, 2013.
993
- 994 35. **Guenette JA, Webb KA, O'Donnell DE.** Does dynamic hyperinflation contribute to dyspnoea
995 during exercise in patients with COPD? *Eur Respir J* 40: 322-329, 2012.
996
- 997 36. **Habazettl H, Athanasopoulos D, Kuebler WM, Wagner H, Roussos C, Wagner PD,**
998 **Ungruhe J, Zakynthinos S, Vogiatzis I.** Near-infrared spectroscopy and indocyanine green
999 derived blood flow index for noninvasive measurement of muscle perfusion during exercise. *J*
1000 *App Physiol* 108: 962-967, 2010.
1001
- 1002 37. **Harms CA, Babcock MA, McClaran SR, Pegelow DF, Nickele GA, Nelson WB,**
1003 **Dempsey JA.** Respiratory muscle work compromises leg blood flow during maximal exercise.
1004 *J App Physiol* 82: 1573-1583, 1997.
1005
- 1006 38. **Harms CA, Wetter TJ, McClaran SR, Pegelow DF, Nickele GA, Nelson WB, Hanson**
1007 **P, Dempsey JA.** Effects of respiratory muscle work on cardiac output and its distribution
1008 during maximal exercise. *J App Physiol* 85: 609-618, 1998.
1009
- 1010 39. **Hoier B, Nordsborg N, Andersen S, Jensen L, Nybo L, Bangsbo J, Hellsten Y.** Pro-
1011 and anti-angiogenic factors in human skeletal muscle in response to acute exercise and training.
1012 *J Physiol* 590: 595-606, 2012.
1013
- 1014 40. **Hug F, Dorel S.** Electromyographic analysis of pedaling: A review. *J Electromyogr*
1015 *Kinesiol* 19: 182-198, 2009.
- 1016 41. **Jensen L, Bangsbo J & Hellsten Y.** Effect of high intensity training on capillarization and
1017 presence of angiogenic factors in human skeletal muscle. *J Physiol* 557: 571-582, 2004.
1018
- 1019 42. **Kalliokoski KK, Kemppainen J, Larmola K, Takala TO, Peltoniemi P, Oksanen A,**
1020 **Ruotsalainen U, Cobelli C, Knuuti J, Nuutila P.** Muscle blood flow and flow heterogeneity
1021 during exercise studied with positron emission tomography in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 83:
1022 395-401, 2000.

1023
1024 43. **Koga S, Barstow TJ, Okushima D, Rossiter HB, Kondo N, Ohmae E, Poole DC.**
1025 Validation of a high-power, time-resolved, near-infrared spectroscopy system for measurement
1026 of superficial and deep muscle deoxygenation during exercise. *J App Physiol* 118:1435-1442,
1027 2015.
1028
1029 44. **Koga S, Rossiter HB, Heinonen I, Musch TI, and Poole DC.** Dynamic Heterogeneity of
1030 Exercising Muscle Blood Flow and O₂ Utilization. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 46: 860-876, 2014.
1031
1032 45. **Langer D, Ciavaglia C, Faisal A, Webb KA, Neder JA, Gosselink R, Dacha S,**
1033 **Topalovic M, Ivanova A, O'Donnell DE.** Inspiratory muscle training reduces diaphragm
1034 activation and dyspnoea during exercise in COPD. *J Appl Physiol* 125: 381-392, 2018.
1035
1036 46. **Laveneziana P, Albuquerque A, Aliverti A, Babb T, Barreiro E, Dres M, Dubé BP,**
1037 **Fauroux B, Gea J, Guenette JA, Hudson AL, Kabitz HJ, Laghi F, Langer D, Luo YM,**
1038 **Neder JA, O'Donnell D, Polkey MI, Rabinovich RA, Rossi A, Series F, Similowski T,**
1039 **Spengler CM, Vogiatzis I, Verges S.** ERS statement on respiratory muscle testing at rest and
1040 during exercise. *Eur Respir J* 53:1801214, 2019.
1041
1042 47. **Laveneziana P, Valli G, Onorati P, Paoletti P, Ferrazza AM, Palange P.** Effect of
1043 heliox on heart rate kinetics and dynamic hyperinflation during high-intensity exercise in
1044 COPD. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 111: 225-234, 2011.
1045
1046 48. **Laveneziana P, Palange P, Ora J, Martolini D, O'Donnell DE.** Bronchodilator effect on
1047 ventilatory, pulmonary gas exchange, and heart rate kinetics during high-intensity exercise in
1048 COPD. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 107: 633-643, 2009.
1049
1050 49. **Laviolette L, Laveneziana P.** Dyspnoea: a multidimensional and multidisciplinary
1051 approach. *Eur Respir J* 43: 1750-1762, 2014.
1052
1053 50. **Laughlin MH, Korthuis RJ, Duncker DJ, Bache RJ.** Control of blood flow to cardiac
1054 and skeletal muscle during exercise. In L. B. Rowell J. T. Shepherd (Eds) Handbook of
1055 Physiology, section 12, Exercise: Regulation and Integration of Multiple Systems (pp. 705–
1056 769). Bethesda, MD, USA: American Physiological Society, 1996.
1057
1058 51. **Light RW, Mintz HM, Linden GS, Brown SE.** Hemodynamics of patients with severe
1059 chronic obstructive pulmonary disease during progressive upright exercise. *Am Rev Respir Dis*
1060 130: 391-395, 1984.
1061
1062 52. **Louvaris Z, Habazettl H, Asimakos A, Wagner H, Zakyntinos S, Wagner PD,**
1063 **Vogiatzis I.** Heterogeneity of blood flow and metabolism during exercise in patients with
1064 chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 237: 42-50, 2017.
1065
1066 53. **Louvaris Z, Spetsioti S, Andrianopoulos V, Chynkiamis N, Habazettl H, Wagner H,**
1067 **Zakyntinos S, Wagner PD, Vogiatzis I.** Cardiac output measurement during exercise in
1068 COPD: A comparison of dye dilution and impedance cardiography. *Clin Respir J* 13: 222-231,
1069 2019.

- 1070
1071 54. **Louvaris Z, Habazetl H, Wagner H, Zakynthinos S, Wagner PD, Vogiatzis I.** Near-
1072 infrared spectroscopy using indocyanine green dye for minimally invasive measurement of
1073 respiratory and leg muscle blood flow in patients with COPD. *J Appl Physiol* 125: 947-959,
1074 2018.
1075
1076 55. **Louvaris Z, Vogiatzis I, Aliverti A, Habazetl H, Wagner H, Wagner P, Zakynthinos**
1077 **S.** Blood flow does not redistribute from respiratory to leg muscles during exercise breathing
1078 heliox or oxygen in COPD. *J Appl Physiol* 117: 267-276, 2014.
1079
1080 56. **Louvaris Z, Zakynthinos S, Aliverti A, Habazetl H, Vasilopoulou M, Andrianopoulos**
1081 **V, Wagner H, Wagner P, Vogiatzis I.** Heliox increases quadriceps muscle oxygen delivery
1082 during exercise in COPD patients with and without dynamic hyperinflation. *J Appl Physiol*
1083 113: 1012-1023, 2012.
1084
1085 57. **Louvaris Z, Vogiatzis I, Habazetl H, Wagner H, Wagner PD, Zakynthinos S.**
1086 Improvement in respiratory muscle O₂ delivery is associated with less dyspnoea during
1087 exercise in COPD. *Clin Respir J* 12: 1308-1310, 2018.
1088
1089 58. **Luo YM, Moxham J, Polkey MI.** Diaphragm electromyography using an oesophageal
1090 catheter: current concepts. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 115: 233-244, 2008.
1091
1092 59. **Mahler DA, Brent BN, Loke J, Zaret BL, Matthay RA.** Right ventricular performance
1093 and central circulatory hemodynamics during upright exercise in patients with chronic
1094 obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 130: 722-729, 1984.
1095
1096 60. **McKenzie DK, Butler JE, Gandevia SC.** Respiratory muscle function and activation in
1097 chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Appl Physiol* 107: 621-629, 2009.

1098 61. **Miller MR, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, Crapo R,**
1099 **Enright P, van der Grinten CP, Gustafsson P, Jensen R, Johnson DC, MacIntyre N,**
1100 **McKay R, Navajas D, Pedersen OF, Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Wanger J; ATS/ERS Task**
1101 **Force.** Standardisation of spirometry. *Eur Respir J* 26: 319-338, 2005.
1102
1103 62. **Neder JA, Andreoni S, Lerario MC, Nery LE.** Reference values for lung function tests.
1104 II. Maximal respiratory pressures and voluntary ventilation. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 32: 719-727,
1105 1999.
1106
1107 63. **Ninane V, Rypens F, Yernault JC, De Troyer A.** Abdominal muscle use during
1108 breathing in patients with chronic airflow obstruction. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 146: 16-21, 1992.
1109
1110 64. **O'Donnell DE, Lam M, Webb KA.** Measurement of symptoms, lung hyperinflation, and
1111 endurance during exercise in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care*
1112 *Med* 158: 1557-1565, 1998.
1113
1114 65. **O'Donnell DE, Milne KM, James MD, de Torres JP, Neder JA.** Dyspnoea in COPD:
1115 New Mechanistic Insights and Management Implications. *Adv Ther* 37: 41-60, 2020.

1116
1117 66. **O'Donnell DE, Ora J, Webb KA, Laveneziana P, Jensen D.** Mechanisms of activity-
1118 related dyspnoea in pulmonary diseases. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 167: 116-132, 2009.
1119
1120 67. **Okushima D, Poole DC, Rossiter HB, Barstow TJ, Kondo N, Ohmae E, Koga S.**
1121 Muscle deoxygenation in the quadriceps during ramp incremental cycling: Deep vs. superficial
1122 heterogeneity. *J Appl Physiol* 119: 1313-1319, 2015.
1123
1124 68. **Pitta F, Troosters T, Spruit MA, Decramer M & Gosselink R.** Activity monitoring for
1125 assessment of physical activities in daily life in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary
1126 disease. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 86: 1979-1985, 2005.
1127
1128 69. **Puente-Maestu L, García de Pedro J, Martínez-Abad Y, Ruíz de Oña JM, Llorente D**
1129 **& Cubillo JM.** Dyspnoea, ventilatory pattern, and changes in dynamic hyperinflation related to
1130 the intensity of constant work rate exercise in COPD. *Chest* 128: 651-656, 2005.
1131
1132 70. **Radtke T, Crook S, Kaltsakas G, Louvaris Z, Berton D, Urquhart DS, Kampouras A,**
1133 **Rabinovich RA, Verges S, Kontopidis D, Boyd J, Tonia T, Langer D, De Brandt J, Goërtz**
1134 **YMJ, Burtin C, Spruit MA, Braeken DCW, Dacha S, Franssen FME, Laveneziana P,**
1135 **Eber E, Troosters T, Neder JA, Puhan MA, Casaburi R, Vogiatzis I, Hebestreit H.** ERS
1136 statement on standardisation of cardiopulmonary exercise testing in chronic lung diseases. *Eur*
1137 *Respir Rev* 28:180101, 2019.
1138
1139 71. **Rabinovich RA, Louvaris Z, Raste Y, Langer D, Van Remoortel H, Giavedoni S,**
1140 **Burtin C, Regueiro EM, Vogiatzis I, Hopkinson NS, Polkey MI, Wilson FJ, Macnee W,**
1141 **Westerterp KR, Troosters T.** Validity of physical activity monitors during daily life in
1142 patients with COPD. *Eur Respir J* 42: 1205-1215, 2013.
1143
1144 72. **Ramirez-Sarmiento A, Orozco-Levi M, Guell R, Barreiro E, Hernandez N, Mota S,**
1145 **Sangenis M, Broquetas JM, Casan P, Gea J.** Inspiratory muscle training in patients with
1146 chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: structural adaptation and physiologic outcomes. *Am J*
1147 *Respir Crit Care Med* 166: 1491-1497, 2002.
1148
1149 73. **Rodrigues A, Louvaris Z, Dacha S, Janssens W, Pitta F, Vogiatzis I, Gosselink R,**
1150 **Langer D.** Differences in Respiratory Muscle Responses to Hyperpnoea or Loaded Breathing
1151 in COPD. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 52, 1126-1134, 2020.
1152
1153 74. **Saey D, Debigare R, LeBlanc P, Mador MJ, Cote CH, Jobin J, Maltais F.** Contractile
1154 leg fatigue after cycle exercise: a factor limiting exercise in patients with chronic obstructive
1155 pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 168: 425-430, 2003.
1156
1157 75. **Sejersted OM, Hargens AR.** Intramuscular pressures for monitoring different tasks and
1158 muscle conditions. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 384: 339-350, 1995.
1159
1160 76. **Sheel AW, Boushel R, Dempsey JA.** Competition for blood flow distribution between
1161 respiratory and locomotor muscles: implications for muscle fatigue. *J Appl Physiol* 125: 820-
1162 831, 2018.

1163
1164 77. **Troosters, T, Gosselink R, Decramer M.** Six-minute walking distance in healthy elderly
1165 subjects. *Eur Respir J* 14: 270-274, 1999.
1166
1167 78. **Tudor-Locke C, Craig CL, Thyfault JP, Spence JC.** A step-defined sedentary lifestyle
1168 index: <5000 steps/day. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* 38: 100-114, 2013.
1169
1170 79. **Turner LA, Tecklenburg-Lund SL, Chapman R, Shei RJ, Wilhite DP,**
1171 **Mickleborough T.** The Effect of Inspiratory Muscle Training on Respiratory and Limb
1172 Locomotor Muscle Deoxygenation During Exercise with Resistive Inspiratory Loading. *Int J*
1173 *Sports Med* 37: 598-606, 2016.
1174
1175 80. **van Beekvelt MC, Borghuis MS, van Engelen BG, Wevers RA, Colier WN.** Adipose
1176 tissue thickness affects in vivo quantitative near-IR spectroscopy in human skeletal muscle.
1177 *Clin Sci (Lond)* 101: 21-28, 2001.
1178
1179 81. **Van Remoortel H, Raste Y, Louvaris Z, Giavedoni S, Burtin C, Langer D, Wilson F,**
1180 **Rabinovich R, Vogiatzis I, Hopkinson NS, Troosters T; PROactive consortium.** [Validity of](#)
1181 [six activity monitors in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a comparison with indirect](#)
1182 [calorimetry.](#) *PLoS One* 7(6):e39198, 2012.
1183
1184 82. **Vizza CD, Lynch JP, Ochoa LL, Richardson G, Trulock EP.** Right and left ventricular
1185 dysfunction in patients with severe pulmonary disease. *Chest* 113: 576-583, 1998.
1186
1187 83. **Vogiatzis I, Louvaris Z, Wagner PD.** Respiratory and locomotor muscle blood flow
1188 during exercise in health and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Exp Physiol* doi:
1189 10.1113/EP088104. [Epub ahead of print], 2020.
1190 84. **Vogiatzis I, Habazettl H, Louvaris Z, Andrianopoulos V, Wagner H, Zakynthinos S,**
1191 **Wagner PD.** A method for assessing heterogeneity of blood flow and metabolism in exercising
1192 normal human muscle by near-infrared spectroscopy. *J Appl Physiol* 118: 783-793, 2015.
1193
1194 85. **Vogiatzis I, Athanasopoulos D, Habazettl H, Aliverti A, Louvaris Z, Cherouveim E,**
1195 **Wagner H, Roussos C, Wagner PD, Zakynthinos S.** Intercostal muscle blood flow limitation
1196 during exercise in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 182:
1197 1105-1113, 2010.
1198
1199 86. **Vogiatzis I, Athanasopoulos D, Habazettl H, Kuebler WM, Wagner H, Roussos C,**
1200 **Wagner PD, Zakynthinos S.** Intercostal muscle blood flow limitation in athletes during
1201 maximal exercise. *J Physiol* 15: 3665-3677, 2009.
1202
1203 87. **Vogiatzis I, Habazettl H, Aliverti A, Athanasopoulos D, Louvaris Z, Lo Mauro A,**
1204 **Wagner H, Roussos C, Wagner PD, Zakynthinos S.** Effect of helium breathing on
1205 intercostals and quadriceps muscle blood flow during exercise in COPD patients. *Am J Physiol*
1206 *Regul Intergr Comp Physiol* 300: 1549-1559, 2011.
1207

- 1208 88. **Wadowski PP, Hulsmann M, Schorgenhofer C, Lang IM, Wurm R, Gremmel T,**
1209 **Koppensteiner R, Steinlechner B, Schwameis M, Jilma B.** Sublingual functional capillary
1210 rarefaction in chronic heart failure. *Eur J Clin Invest* 48, 2018.
1211
- 1212 89. **Wanger J, Clausen JL, Coates A, Pedersen OF, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R,**
1213 **Crapo R, Enright P, van der Grinten CP, Gustafsson P, Hankinson J, Jensen R, Johnson**
1214 **D, Macintyre N, McKay R, Miller MR, Navajas D, Pellegrino R, Viegi G.** Standardisation
1215 of the measurement of lung volumes. *Eur Respir J* 26: 511-522, 2005.
1216
- 1217 90. **Welsh DG, Segal SS.** Muscle length directs sympathetic nerve activity and vasomotor tone
1218 in resistance vessels of hamster retractor. *Circ Res* 79: 551-559, 1996.
1219
- 1220 91. **Witt JD, Guenette JA, Rupert JL, McKenzie DC, Sheel AW.** Inspiratory muscle
1221 training attenuates the human respiratory muscle metaboreflex. *J Physiol* 584: 1019-1028,
1222 2007.
1223
- 1224 92. **Yan S, Kaminski D, Sliwinski P.** Inspiratory muscle mechanics of patients with chronic
1225 obstructive pulmonary disease during incremental exercise. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 156:
1226 807-813, 1997.
1227
1228
1229

1230 **Table 1.** Subjects characteristics, pulmonary function and peak exercise and
1231 functional, quadriceps and respiratory muscle capacity data.
1232

Demographics / Anthropometrics	
Sex, male/female	10/8
Age, years	66±6
BMI, kg/m²	27±6
Pulmonary function	
FEV₁, L	1.4±0.6
FEV₁, %pred.	58±24
FVC, L	3.2±0.8
FVC, %pred.	99±30

FEV₁/FVC, %	46±13
MVV, L/min	53±16
MVV, %pred.	68±24
TLC, L	6.5±1.5
TLC, %pred.	116±20
RV, L	3.4±1.25
RV, %pred.	151±45
RV/TLC, %	51±10
TL_{CO}, mmol/min/kpa	4.2±1.4
TL_{CO}, %pred.	55±16
SpO₂, %	94 ± 1
Hb, g/dl	14.5 ± 1.3

Peak exercise data

Work rate, watts	79±26
Work rate, %pred.	70±20*
VE, L	46±14
VE/MVV, %	87±15
Δ Insp. capacity, L	-0.52±0.36
Tidal volume/ Insp. Capacity, %	78±14
VO₂, L/min	1.3±0.5

VO₂, %pred.	86±31
Heart rate, beats/min	120±20
Cardiac output, L/min	11.8±2.3
SpO₂, %	88±4
Dyspnoea, 10-Borg scale	7.2±2.0
Leg discomfort, 10-Borg scale	6.6±2.0

Functional, quadriceps and respiratory muscle capacity data

6-minute walking test, meters.	496±52
6-minute walking test, %pred.	87±12 ^{**}
Quadriceps muscle strength, kg	37±10
Quadriceps muscle strength, %pred.	81±23 ^{***}
MIP, cmH₂O	73±15
MIP, %pred	82±21 ^{****}
MEP, cmH₂O	157±12
MEP, %pred	171±12 ^{****}
Physical activity levels, steps per day	6663±3618

1233

1234 Data are presented as mean ± SD for n=18 patients with COPD. FEV₁: forced
 1235 expiratory volume in the first second; FVC: forced vital capacity; MVV: maximum
 1236 voluntary ventilation; TLC: total lung capacity; RV: residual volume; TL_{CO}: transfer
 1237 factor for carbon monoxide; Hb: haemoglobin; VE: minute ventilation; Δ: changes in
 1238 inspiratory capacity from rest; VO₂: oxygen consumption; SpO₂: arterial oxygen

1239 saturation by pulse oximeter; MIP: maximal inspiratory pressure; MEP: maximal
1240 inspiratory pressure. **Reference values calculated by:**
1241 *Blackie et al. 1989, **Troosters et al. 1999, ***Allaire et al. 2004, ****Neder et al.
1242 1999